
Growth & Prosperity Scrutiny Panel  
 
Dear Member, 
You are invited to attend the meeting of the Growth & Prosperity Scrutiny Panel to be 
held as follows for the transaction of the business indicated. 
Tom Stannard 
Chief Executive  

 
DATE: Monday, 12 December 2022 
 
TIME:  6.00 pm (Briefing for Panel Members at 5.30pm) 
 
VENUE: Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton 

 
In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 
this meeting.  

 
AGENDA 
 

 GUIDANCE FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON FACE TO FACE 
MEETINGS IN THE SALFORD SUITE.  
 

(Pages 2 - 3) 

1   Apologies for absence  
 

 

2   Declarations of interest  
 

 

3   Zero Carbon and Climate Change Programme Overview - James 
Shuttleworth / Hayley Nixon.  
 

(Pages 4 - 20) 

4   Update on Flooding - Matt Ryan.  
 

(Pages 21 - 105) 

5   Minutes of meeting held on 28 November 2022.  
 

 

6   Work programme.  
 

(Page 106) 

7   Any other business.  
 

 

8   Date and Time of Next Meeting - Monday 23 January 2023, 
6.00pm.  
 

 

 
Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 2602 
Claire Edwards, Democratic Services, 
claire.edwards@salford.gov.uk 

E-Mail: claire.edwards@salford.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack



Last updated 03.10.22 

Face to face public meetings at Salford Civic Centre  
 
Face to face public meetings are being held in Old Town Hall Building at the Civic 
Centre and currently most meetings are being held in The Salford Suite, the Council 
Chamber and it is hoped in the next couple of months that the committee rooms will 
also be available for public meetings. The venue for each meeting is shown on the 
agenda for each meeting and these are published on the city council website here.   

 

1. Important information for attending public meetings in the Salford Suite  

a. Where to enter the building 
You must enter at the main Reception and report to the Reception Desk.  You will 
be directed to the correct meeting room and given access to the building by the 
member of staff on duty. 
  

For evening meetings, if the Reception is closed, 
please press the out of hours buzzer to gain access. 
This can be found on the metal panel on the stand 
next to the Reception doors.  
 

 
 
 

 

b. Accessible access to the Council Chamber 

The public gallery for the Council Chamber is accessed by a staircase.  If this is 

not suitable for you there are spaces in the council chamber available for the 

public who cannot access the gallery.  To access these spaces, please email 

decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk a few days in advance of the meeting 

(if possible) and the clerk for the meeting will arrange this for you.  

 

2. What to do if you have symptoms of a respiratory infection, including 

COVID-19, and have not taken a COVID-19 test.  

The advice on the gov.uk website says: 

• Try to stay at home and avoid contact with other people if you have symptoms 

of a respiratory infection, such as COVID-19, and you have a high 

temperature or do not feel well, try to stay at home and avoid contact with 

other people, until you no longer have a high temperature (if you had one) or 

until you no longer feel unwell. 

• If you leave your home while you have symptoms of a respiratory infection, 

and you have a high temperature or feel unwell, the following actions will 

reduce the chance of passing on your infection to others: 

o wearing a well-fitting face covering made with multiple layers or a surgical 
face mask 

o avoiding crowded places such as public transport, large social gatherings, 
or anywhere that is enclosed or poorly ventilated 

o covering your mouth and nose when you cough or sneeze; wash your 
hands frequently with soap and water for 20 seconds or use hand sanitiser 
after coughing, sneezing and blowing your nose and before you eat or 
handle food and avoid touching your face. 

Page 2

Agenda Annex

https://sccdemocracy.salford.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/people-with-symptoms-of-a-respiratory-infection-including-covid-19


Last updated 03.10.22 

 

3. What to do if you have a positive COVID-19 test result 

The advice on the gov.uk website says: 

• Try to stay at home and avoid contact with other people if you have a positive 

COVID-19 test result, it is very likely that you have COVID-19 even if you do 

not have any symptoms. You can pass on the infection to others, even if you 

have no symptoms. 

• Many people with COVID-19 will no longer be infectious to others after 5 

days. If you have a positive COVID-19 test result, try to stay at home and 

avoid contact with other people for 5 days after the day you took your test. At 

the end of this period, if you have a high temperature or feel unwell, try to 

follow this advice until you feel well enough to resume normal activities and 

you no longer have a high temperature if you had one. 

• Although many people will no longer be infectious to others after 5 days, 

some people may be infectious to other people for up to 10 days from the 

start of their infection. You should avoid meeting people at higher risk of 

becoming seriously unwell from COVID-19, especially those whose immune 

system means that they are at higher risk of serious illness from COVID-19, 

despite vaccination, for 10 days after the day you took your test. 

• If you leave your home during the 5 days after your positive test result the 

following steps will reduce the chance of passing on COVID-19 to others: 

o wear a well-fitting face covering made with multiple layers or a surgical 

face mask. 

o avoid crowded places such as public transport, large social gatherings, or 

anywhere that is enclosed or poorly ventilated. 

o cover your mouth and nose when you cough or sneeze; wash your hands 

frequently with soap and water for 20 seconds or use hand sanitiser after 

coughing, sneezing and blowing your nose and before you eat or handle 

food; avoid touching your face. 

Page 3

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/people-with-symptoms-of-a-respiratory-infection-including-covid-19
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-people-whose-immune-system-means-they-are-at-higher-risk
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-people-whose-immune-system-means-they-are-at-higher-risk
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-people-whose-immune-system-means-they-are-at-higher-risk


Salford - Zero Carbon
21/22 Annual Report

Nov 22

P
age 4

A
genda Item

 3



Salford City Council – Milestones and Targets

Establish a Climate Action Board in Salford

Climate Emergency Declaration

The City Council believes that that the impacts 
of global temperature rise above 1.5°C, are so 
severe that governments at all levels must 
work together and make this their top priority. 

Therefore, Salford City Council declared a 
Climate Emergency in July 2019 and agreed: 
• Set a challenging target date of 2038 for 

carbon neutrality in Salford;
• Consider the climate change impact of 

each area of the Council’s activities.

Responding to Climate Emergency is now one 
of the Great Eight

Salford Local Plan
➢ Salford's Local Plan includes a 

target that all new development 
should by zero carbon by 2028.

➢ The Inspector has now published 
his report, including confirmation 
that he considers this policy 
‘sound’.  

➢ Current proposal is for the 
adoption of the Local Plan to be 
considered by Council on the 18 
January 2023.

P
age 5



Greater Manchester 5 Year Environment Plan

Greater Manchester Combined Authority

Energy Supply
Homes, 

workplaces and 
public buildings

Production & 
Consumption 
of resources

Natural 
Environment

Resilience & 
Adaptation

Travel & 
Transport

GM 5 Year Environment Plan 
Aim to be Carbon Neutral by 2038 by reducing emissions by 15% per annum.
- All 10 GM Local Authorities have agreed to deliver this
- Delivery monitored through 5 Challenge Groups.
- Mar 19 – Feb 24
- Environment - Greater Manchester Combined Authority (greatermanchester-

ca.gov.uk)

P
age 6

https://greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/


SCC Zero Carbon City Vision & Aims

Salford City Council Climate Action Board
- Meets bi monthly, chaired by Cllr McCusker and incl external stakeholders.

- Information sharing across all partners

Our Green Infrastructure
Mission

1. Encourage and monitor tree planting
2. Enhancing green infrastructure 

including managing our water and its 
environment sustainably

3. Achieving a net gain in biodiversity for 
new developments

4. Increasing investment and engagement 
with our natural environment

Our Resources
Mission

1. Producing Goods and 
services more 

sustainably, moving to a 
circular economy
2. Becoming more 

responsible consumers
3. Managing our waste 

as sustainably as 
possible

4. Reducing unnecessary 
food waste

Our Homes
Mission

1. Retrofitting private and public sector housing across the 
city.

2. Reducing Heat Demand in new buildings
3. Support residents to invest in renewable energy 

generation on their homes.

Culture Change 
& Engagement

Mission
1. Encourage 

positive 
engagement and 
behaviour change

2. Raise 
awareness of 
programme & 

impact

Lead Member Briefing
- Decision making body for the Working 

groups

Lead Member Report
- For decisions

Programme Highlight Report
- Highlights by exception from Sub Groups

Our Travel
Mission

1. Increasing use of public transport and 
active travel modes

2. Phasing out fossil-fuelled private 
vehicles with zero emission vehicles

Our Buildings
Mission

1. Reducing heat demand from existing commercial and 
public buildings

2. Reducing Heat Demand in new buildings
3. Developing renewable energy resources on our land and 

buildings. 
4. Support Salford businesses to invest in renewable energy 

generation businesses.

Reporting
- Programme Plan and Highlight Report for CAB

- Delivery Plan for each Group based on Action Plan 
monitored at meetings

P
age 7



Carbon Emissions in Salford 2005 - 2020

From recent figures from 2020 
from www.gov.uk UK local 
authority and regional 
greenhouse gas emissions 
national statistics, 2005 to 
2020 - GOV.UK
• Emissions have reduced 

from 1885.8kt CO2e in 
2005 to 1,111.6kt CO2e in 
2020, a 41% reduction.

• The two highest types of 
emissions in 2020 in Salford 
relate to Transport (47%) 
and Homes (30%).

P
age 8



Salford City Council – Key Stats for Salford

From recent figures from 2020 from www.gov.uk UK local 
authority and regional greenhouse gas emissions national 
statistics, 2005 to 2020 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
• The two highest types of emissions in 2020 in Salford 

relate to Transport (47%) and Homes (30%).

6414

7265

1864

2068

210

Salford City Council - Carbon 
Emissions - Tonnes C02e 21/22

Estate Schools Street Lighting Fleet Business Travel

Salford City Councils emissions for 21/22 are 17,819 tonnes
C02e
• The corporate estate and school estate making up three 

quarters of those emissions.

P
age 9

http://www.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-greenhouse-gas-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2020


Salford City Council - Zero Carbon Challenge

P
age 10



Our Homes – Overview

Low Energy, Low Carbon Homes – The Salford Standard 

Salford has committed to delivering low energy, low carbon homes 
through Derive, the Council’s wholly owned housing company. The 
homes will be designed and built to make efficient use of the sun, 
internal heat sources and heat recovery to keep the house at a 
comfortable ambient temperature without reliance on 
conventional, fossil fuel based, heating systems. 

A total of  12 homes to meet the new Salford Standard have been 
completed to date, with a further 94 due to complete in 
November/December 2022. An additional 275 are planned to be 
delivered by the end of 2025. 

Two of the new Salford Standard homes in Brassington 
Avenue, Ordsall

Green Homes Grant – Local Authority Delivery GMCA 
Schemes 

98 homes have had retrofit improvements including External Wall, 
Loft and Underfloor Insulation, new windows and doors and Solar 
PV installations.

P
age 11



Our Buildings - Overview
Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme 
Focus has been delivery of the Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme,
• £7.5m grant
• 37 installs across 31 SCC sites
• 21 Roof mounted PV installations – 175 tCO2 pa savings 
& 778,130kWh energy generation pa.
• 12 Air Source Heat Pumps – 295 tCO2 savings

• 4 Battery Energy Storage Systems

• LED lighting 

• Roof works and Loft insulation

Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme 3 
Grant funding secured of £245k secured towards decarbonizing the 
heating at Beesley Green Community Centre and Turnpike Messroom

Buildings Dashboard 

Dashboard developed which holds building data on SCC and partners 
such as the University of Salford. This will enable the continued 
development of a pipeline of buildings for future projects.

P
age 12



Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme - Salford City Council Sites

Site
System Size 
kWp

Total # 
panels

Total estimated 
annual energy 
generation kWh

Worsley LC 91.20 240 74,720

Broughton LC 101.08 266 81,730

Irlam & Cadishead LC 98.80 260 80,410

Turnpike 71.44 188 61,590

Salford Sports Village 49.40 130 40,600

St George's Day Centre 24.32 64 20,660

Salford Opps Centre 31.16 82 25,540

Little Hulton EYC 49.40 130 40,100

Fit City Eccles 49.40 130 37,460

Prescott House 14.44 38 9,640

Whittle Street CH 5.32 14 4,940

Ordsall Leisure Centre 99.56 262 73,260

Granville (EPH Stanhurst) 47.12 124 36,550

Alder Brook Primary 
Partnership Centre 82.08 216 65,070

Alexandra House Centre 44.08 116 37,300

The Learning Centre Buille 
Hill 37.24 98 29,130

Brierley House Day Care 
Centre 28.12 74 22,290

Boothstown Library 21.28 56 16,080

Station Road Children's 
Home (Bethel) 10.64 28 7,520

Ingledene 10.64 28 8,130

St Mary's Park Sports Hut 6.84 18 5,410

Totals 973.56 2,562 778,130

ASHP Sites

Civic Centre

Broughton Hub

Clifton Country Park

Blackleach Country Park

Salford Sports Village

Whittle Street Children’s      
Home

Cleavley Track

Winton Pavilion 

Patricroft Pavilion

Guildhall CC

Northfield Children’s 
Home

Rainbow Rooms

P
age 13



Unlocking Clean Energy in Greater Manchester
Overview

➢ Energy Systems Catapult lead partners with Manchester, Rochdale, Stockport and Wigan.

➢ £17.2m project with £8.6m grant funded - £1.8m ERDF for Salford.

➢ Estimated 2.5WM of energy generation to be installed on SCC land and car parks in 2023.

➢ Solar Car Ports have been awarded and Solar Farm is out to tender.

• Little Hulton – Solar farm – c2MW • Turnpike and Swinton Hall Road Depots – 0.57 MW 

P
age 14



Unlocking Clean Energy in Greater Manchester - Challenges

Charlestown Hydro Scheme

➢ Archimedes Screw on the Irwell at Charlestown – 1MW

➢ Budget for delivery of £1.5m – based on advice from 
technical consultants

➢ Bids received - £3-3.5m – more than double. Due to price 
of steel, inflation and perceived project risk

➢ Project delayed, pending alternative delivery model (e.g., 
community-led) or improved delivery conditions (other 
source of funding needed)

➢ Challenges on other projects – less generous grant, 
inflation, procurement challenges due to busy market

➢ These challenges are affecting Salford partners, too

P
age 15



Our Green Infrastructure - Overview

Objectives

➢ Encourage positive engagement and behaviour change 

➢ Raise awareness of Zero Carbon programme and impacts

GM Priority 1: 
Encourage and monitor tree 
planting

GM Priority 3: 
Promoting biodiversity across 
Salford inclusive of achieving a 
net gain in biodiversity for 
new developments

GM Priority 4:
Increasing investment and 
engagement with our natural 
environment

GM Priority 2:
Enhancing green infrastructure 
including managing our water 
and its environment 
sustainably

Partner Institutions

➢ Salford CVS
➢ RHS Bridgewater
➢ University of Salford
➢ City of Trees
➢ Groundwork
➢ GM Ecology Unit
➢ Lancashire Wildlife Trust
➢ GMCA Environment Team
➢ Diocese of Salford

P
age 16



Our Green Infrastructure – University of Salford: The Living Lab

A 3yr EU funded project made up of 12 
partners, Salford City Council as one of the 
two LA partners.

Demonstrates the benefits of Nature 
Based Solutions and features:

• Rain gardens 

• Green wall  - Cockcroft building

• Green roof – Lady Hale

• SuDS street trees
• Digital interpretation displays

• Live stream and additional information:

• https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCu3n
hfyNubVHdHvEdbD_8_A/about

• IGNITION’s Digital mapping tool to identify 
new green or blue spaces in GM to be 
available Summer 22

P
age 17

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCu3nhfyNubVHdHvEdbD_8_A/about


Our Green Infrastructure – Salford Peat

Little Woolden Moss and two other former peat extraction sites <10% 
of Salford peatlands. GM Target 50 – 75% restored

BUT the 2,800 ha of lowland peat in Salford in mix of uses emits 89,540 t CO2-e per year

P
age 18



Our Green Infrastructure – Greater Manchester Green Spaces Fund

£2.6m GM fund supporting community-led projects that 

increase the amount and quality of accessible, nature-rich green space in
the city region, particularly in areas where people need it most. Grants up 
to the value of £40k are available to create new green spaces or improve
existing ones.

The fund is focused on three principles: 
1. To benefit communities in greatest need of quality green spaces 
2. To tackle our biodiversity emergency 
3. To encourage and empower communities to get involved with nature

Eligibility Criteria 
• Fund can be accessed by community groups or small charities, 

groups required to submit an outline project plan for a new or 
existing green space which is publicly accessible. 

• Projects must be within Greater Manchester and applicants 
must demonstrate how they meet the aims of the around 7 
asessment criteria.

• Local Authorities can partner with organisations but are not 
able to bid for funding directly. Organisations must have 
permission of landowners.

• Salford groups can access a dedicated GSF Advisor to support 
bid applications, funding awards and delivery phase.

Round 1: June – Aug 22
1st round applications closed with 3 applications from Salford, the 3 
community groups in partnership with SCC have made bids for 
approx. £74k of funding.
2 of the 3 projects were successful and awarded funding, these are
- £40k for Walkden SUDSs project 
- £4k for Ordsall Park improvements
With a total funding allocation of £44k for this round.
Round 2: Oct 22 – Jan 23
Round 2 is currently open for applications with Salford’s GSF Advisor 
working closely with a number of groups and the Council to develop 
bids.

P
age 19



Next Steps

Mainstreaming 
➢ Considering 

impacts across all 
service areas as 
BAU e.g., Fleet

➢ Carbon Literacy 
training roll out

➢ Raising awareness 
and encouraging 
behaviour change  
with residents 
through ‘Greener 
Salford’ campaign

Delivery 
➢ Public Sector 

Decarbonisation 
Scheme 3 - £786k

➢ Unlocking Clean 
Energy in Greater 
Manchester -
£4.9m – Solar Farm 
at Little Hulton and 
Solar Car ports at 
Depots

Pipeline Development & Funding
➢ Public Sector Decarbonisation 

Fund 3b – Bid
➢ 23/24 Capital Bids
➢ Go Neutral Pipeline 

Development - schools 

Governance
➢ Establishing remaining 

sub groups
➢ Working with external 

private and public city 
stakeholders

Zero Carbon Programme
Key priorities for 22/23

P
age 20



Update to September Flooding

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 4



Summary of Sec 19 report

• Under FWMA SCC has a duty to investigate and report 

significant flooding

• GM policy is to report any issue impacting 5 or more

properties internally

• September flooding meets this criteria

• Rather one incident impacting multiple properties, this 

was many incidents that occurred due to two similar 

events

• Most issues are simple to explain, two are complex

P
age 22



Summary of Sec 19 report

• Report is drafted and undergoing internal checking

• Intention to issue draft to UU week commencing 5th

December

• Usual to revise slightly after this consultation

• Draft issue to EA out of courtesy

• Seek permission from relevant SCC panel to publish

• Expected in first quarter of 2023

P
age 23



Summary of Events

• 9th September

• Intense rainfall from 16:50 to 19:20

• 3 large periods of 32+mm/hr

• Flooding

• 14 internal

• 2 external garage

• Multiple areas of highway flooding

• Multiple calls to SCC OOH

• Highways Attended all sites reported that night

P
age 24



P
age 25



• Rainfall Timings 

• 16.35  - Storm reaches Salford, heading north

• 17.25 – Intense band covering Irlam (32+mm/hour)

• 18.10 – Intense band covering Irlam, Cadishead, 

Boothstown

• 19.45 – Storm clears Salford

P
age 26



Areas that flooded

• Boothstown 

• Royal Oak Pub - Internal

• Library- Internal

• Standfield Centre - Internal

• 1 & 3 Linkfield Drive – Internal

• Cherrywood Close – Highway

• Worsley

• The Crescent

P
age 27



• Irlam/Cadishead

• 28 & 30 & 178 Liverpool Road – internal

• 22 Queensway - internal

• Railway Bridge, Liverpool Road

• Allenby Road

• Lancaster Road

• Laburnum Road

• Fir Street

• Hamilton Avenue (existing roots problem)

• Milton Road

• School Lane/Brookline Close

P
age 28



• Irlam/Cadishead

• Chapel Road

• Merlin Road

• Carlisle Drive

• Threshold for a Section 19 FWMA Flood Report is 5 

properties or more

• Section 19 Flood report will be produced

P
age 29



Summary of Events

• 30th September

• Intense rainfall from 13:55 to 16:20

• 2 large periods of 32+mm/hr

• Flooding

• 7 internal (excl Peel Green Road)

• 2 external garage

• Multiple areas of highway flooding

• Multiple calls to SCC OOH

• Highways Attended all sites reported that night

P
age 30



P
age 31



Areas that flooded

• Boothstown 

• Royal Oak Pub - Internal

• Library- Internal

• Standfield Centre – Internal?

• 1 & 3 Linkfield Drive – Internal

• Cherrywood Close – Highway/Extrenal

• Worsley

• 25, 27, 31 The Crescent – Internal

• 31 Granary Lane - Highway

P
age 32



• Irlam/Cadishead

• Hamilton Avenue

• Dudley Road – highway flooding

• Eccles

• Peel Green Road carriageway flooding

P
age 33



Peel Green Road, Eccles

P
age 34



Peel Green Road, Eccles

P
age 35



P
age 36



Royal Oak Pub, Boothstown

P
age 37



30th September

P
age 38



8th September

P
age 39



8th September

P
age 40



• Landlady speaks of multiple flooding incidents

• Describes floodwater entering the cellar from 3 drains 

in the cellar

• Damage has been caused to the beer chilling system

• Resulted in loss of earnings

• Reported to local Councillors but not UU

• SCC Action

• Highway Drainage checked in August, no defects

• Extensive cleansing and survey of Kerb Drainage in 

December 2020

• Referred issue to UU via e-mail

• Requested advice of Resilience Measures (NRVs)

P
age 41



• Resolution

• UU located debris, including planks of wood within an 

upstream length of sewer

• Cleansing works undertaken and issue considered

resolved

• No further intention to fit PLR measures

P
age 42



Linkfield Drive, Boothstown

P
age 43



P
age 44



P
age 45



P
age 46



P
age 47



P
age 48



P
age 49



• SCC Action

• Spoke to Residents

• UU attendance requested 

• Flooding mechanism same as previous event

• Water emerging under pressure from UU inspection 

chambers in the highway. Flowing overland and into 

properties via their threshold

• UU action

• CCTV & Inspection works undertaken

• Debris, including tyres, found in downstream 

inspection chamber – debris cleared

• Issue considered resolved

P
age 50



Community Centre, Boothstown

P
age 51



P
age 52



P
age 53



• SCC Action

• Spoke to community centre manager

• UU attendance requested 

• UU action

• CCTV & Inspection works undertaken

• Hard matter, believed to be concrete was found in 

the public sewer.

• Dig down works undertaken to repair the public 

sewer

• Issue considered resolved

P
age 54



25 The Crescent, Worsley

P
age 55



P
age 56



The Crescent, Worsley

P
age 57



45.2m

27.93m

25.87m

28.84m

32.21m

41.39m

29.02m

P
age 58



P
age 59



• Complex problem

• Public Sewer System has been inconsistently 

described as hydraulically inadequate/adequate

• Known issues with the Highway Drainage System

• Too few gullies

• UU won’t allow us to install additional gullies

• SCC are developing a long list of possible solutions to 

remove surface water from the system in a sustainable 

way

• UU won’t commit to funding until they have completed 

a monitoring exercise

• Meeting planned to discuss a joint way forward

P
age 60



Cherrywood Close, Boothstown

P
age 61



P
age 62



P
age 63



• SCC Action

• Attended site 10th September flooding had subsided

• Teams call with local resident who has described 

similar, lesser events

• Investigation to be undertaken

• Focus on the SCC owned Main River Culvert

• UU have also been advised of this issue

P
age 64



31 Granary Lane, Worsley

P
age 65



• Reported by Cllr. R. Garrido

• No photos or videos

• Telecon with daughter of the resident 

• I was advised of previous flooding events

• Foul exited the drainage system in the road and at the 

property

• Flooding to the adjoined garage and conservatory

• UU undertook cleansing works to the system and the 

issue is considered resolved

P
age 66



178 Liverpool Road, Irlam

P
age 67



Liverpool Road, Irlam

P
age 68



• Reported by Cllr Robinson-Smith

• Flooding to a salon and training facility

• Flooding emerged from drains and the toilet at the 

premises

• Water entering the property form front and rear

• Water flooding out of the toilet

• United Utilities surveyed their assets and found no 

defect

• Toilet surcharging can only come from the UU asset

• Conclusion is the storm was in excess of the design 

storm for the system.

P
age 69



28 & 30 Liverpool Road, Irlam

P
age 70



P
age 71



P
age 72



• Reported by Cllr Robinson-Smith and resident’s 

granddaughter

• Issue also reported directly to United Utilities

• Visit made on 10th; resident advised multiple similar 

flooding incidents 

• Flood water exits the UU drainage system and floods 

the 2 properties

• Both properties are lower than the carriageway

• UU undertook works to rectify a defect in the foul 

system

• UU have submitted a business case to address an

issue in the surface water system

P
age 73



22 Queensway, Cadishead

P
age 74



P
age 75



• Reported by Cllr Robinson-Smith 

• Issue also reported directly to United Utilities

• Telecon with resident to discuss the incident

• Described as water leaving the system via grids in the 

street and with the property

• Flood water entered the property via the threshold

• UU attended site and advised the system requires de-

silting

• This system has now been de-silted and the problem

resolved

P
age 76



Hamilton Avenue, Cadishead

P
age 77



• Both UU and SCC issues found at this site

• UU issues resolved but problem persisted

• SCC undertook works to repair damaged highway 

drain

• Issue now resolvedP
age 78



 1 

Part 1: Open to the Public 

 

REPORT OF 
STRATEGIC DIRECTOR FOR PLACE 

 

TO GROWTH & PROSPERITY SCRUTINY PANEL 
 

ON 12 DECEMBER 2022

 

TITLE:  
UPDATE ON SEPTEMBER 2021 FLOODING  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
That panel be aware of the impacts of the flooding of September 2021.  It is 
also recommended that panel be made aware of the progress of the Section 
19 Report and the next steps prior to publication.     

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
In September there were two significant storms which resulted in flooding to 
highways and properties in Salford.  The areas that were most affected were 
Eccles, Worsley, Boothstown, Cadishead and Irlam. 
 
This report seeks to provide information relating to the impacts of these 
flooding events and details the actions and duties of relevant parties. 
 
As Lead Local Flood Authority, Salford City Council has a Duty to publicly 
report significant flood events under Section 19 of the Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010.  This report will give information about the status of 
this report  
 
This report will give information relating to the flooding incidents and the 
ongoing response.  It should be noted that all the flooding incidents falls into 
three categories: public sewer flooding, highway drainage flooding and 
flooding from culverted watercourse. 
 

 

 
 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 
N/a 

Page 79



 2 

 

KEY DECISION: NO 
 

 

DETAILS: 
Flood events: 
In September 2021 there were two significant storms which resulted in surface 
water/sewer flooding to highways and properties in Salford.  The areas that were 
affected most are Eccles, Worsley, Boothstown, Cadishead and Irlam. 
To fully explain the flooding events, it is necessary to provide some information 
regarding their intensity and duration. 
 
Storm of 9th September: 
Intense periods of rainfall passed over Salford, moving west to east, with heavy 
bands of rain from 16:50 to 19:20.  There were three exceptionally large bands of 
rain which, according to the Met Office Radar had intensities of 32mm/hour or greater 
– this is the highest intensity that the Met Office radar displays. 
 

 
Figure 1- Met Office Rain Radar 9th September (red indicates 32+mm/hr) 

 
Storm of 30th September: 
Intense periods of rainfall passed over Salford, moving west to east, with heavy 
bands of rain from 16:50 to 19:20.  There were two exceptionally large bands of rain 
which, according to the Met Office Radar had intensities of 32mm/hour or greater – 
this is the highest intensity that the Met Office radar displays. 
 

Page 80



 3 

 
Figure 2- Met Office Rain Radar 30th September (red indicates 32+mm/hr) 

 
Impacts of the flooding: 
The impact of the storms was flooding to several residential properties, commercial 
properties, and highways.  The following table seeks to summarise the properties 
affected and which 
 

Address Detail 
Flooding 
Date 

Previous 
Flooding 
Date 

Incident Details 

1 LINKFIELD 
DRIVE , 
MANCHESTER, 
M28 1JU 

Water exits United 
Utilities (UU) 
chamber on 
Sterndale Road, 
flows over the 
highway and enters 
the property via the 
front/back door 

30-Sep 09-Sep Flooding inside 
the property 

Page 81



 4 

Address Detail 
Flooding 
Date 

Previous 
Flooding 
Date 

Incident Details 

3 LINKFIELD 
DRIVE , 
MANCHESTER, 
M28 1JU 

Water exits United 
Utilities (UU) 
chamber on 
Sterndale Road, 
flows over the 
highway and enters 
the property via the 
front/back door 

30-Sep 09-Sep Flooding inside 
the property 

Boothstown 
Community 
Centre, 
junction of 
Simpson Road 
and Standfield 
Road, 
Boothstown, 
M28 1LS  

Water exits United 
Utilities (UU) 
chamber on 
Standfield Drive, 
flows over the 
highway and enters 
the property via the 
front door 

30-Sep 09-Sep Flooding inside 
the property 

Royal Oak Pub 

Water exits drains in 
the cellar which are 
connected to the 
United Utilities (UU) 
sewer.   

30-Sep 09-Sep Flooding inside 
the property 

24 Hamilton 
Avenue, 
Cadishead 

Water unable to 
drain from Salford 
City Council highway 
due to collapsed 
highway drain on 3rd 
party owned land.  
Expected to flood 
drive and garage 
during storm events. 

30-Sep 09-Sep Flooding to the 
external front 
garden and 
driveway of the 
property 

31 The 
Crescent, 
Worsley, M28 
2WY 

Water exits United 
Utilities (UU) 
chamber in the front 
garden of 25 The 
Crescent.  Highway 
flooding does also 
occur to the 
properties and the 
garage.  Complex 
flooding. 
 
 
 

30-Sep N/a Flooding inside 
the property 

27 The 
Crescent, 
Worsley, M28 
2WY 

30-Sep 09-Sep Flooding inside 
the property 

25 The 
Crescent, 
Worsley, M28 
2WY 

30-Sep 09-Sep Flooding inside 
the property 

Page 82



 5 

Address Detail 
Flooding 
Date 

Previous 
Flooding 
Date 

Incident Details 

31 Granary 
Lane, 
Worsley, M28 
2PH 

Foul water exits the 
United Utilities (UU) 
drainage system, 
flows over the 
highway, and enters 
the property via the 
front door.  Water 
also exits the grid in 
the conservatory.  
Known vulnerable 
people live at this 
residence.  

30-Sep 09-Sep Flooding to 
highway, 
garden and 
conservatory. 

Peel Green 
Road, Eccles 

Flooding to the 
highway as a result 
of the rainfall event 
exceeding the 
capacity of the 
United Utilities (UU) 
public sewer.  
Damage to cars but 
no internal flooding. 

30-Sep N/a Flooding to cars 
and highways. 

Cherrywood 
Close, 
Boothstown 

Water emerged 
under pressure from 
what appears to be a 
chamber of the 
piped watercourse 
owned by Salford 
City Council.  CCTV 
surveys confirmed 
that there were no 
significant  

30-Sep 09-Sep Flooding to 
highway and 
front gardens 

22 Queen's 
Way, Irlam 

Water emerges from 
the United Utilities 
(UU) system and 
highways gullies 

N/a 09- Sept Flooding inside 
the property 

Page 83



 6 

Address Detail 
Flooding 
Date 

Previous 
Flooding 
Date 

Incident Details 

28 & 30 
Liverpool 
Road, Irlam 

Water emerges from 
the United Utilities 
(UU) system, toilet 
at the property and 
highways gullies 

N/a 09- Sept Flooding inside 
the property 

Salon, 178 
Liverpool 
Road, Irlam 

Water emerges from 
the United Utilities 
(UU) system and the 
toilet 

N/a 09- Sept Flooding inside 
the property 

 
Please note that there are photos of the flooding in the appendix to this report. 
 
Duties of Relevant Parties: 
For storm events like the ones described above, the most relevant duties are with 
Salford City Council and United Utilities and take the form of ensuring that drainage 
systems are functioning correctly and reacting to resolve defects when they are 
found to be defective. 
 
Salford City Council are responsible for ensuring that Highway Drainage systems 
functioning correctly.  As the Highways authorities, we have the responsibility for 
managing highway drainage the Highways Act 1980.  Highway Drainage can take the 
form of collection systems (gullies and kerb drainage) a branch pipe connecting the 
collection system to drain, and in some rare cases a highway drainage carrier drain.  
It is more typical in Salford for highway drainage gullies to be connected to the public 
sewer system. 
 
United Utilities is responsible for the maintenance of the public sewer system.  The 
below diagram shows the ownership of shared assets: 
 

Page 84



 7 

 
Figure 3- Illustration showing drain ownership from United Utilities Website 

 
The following text is form United Utilities website: 
“What United Utilities is responsible for: the big public sewers that take sewage and 
rainwater run-off to our wastewater treatment works (as well as the pipes from the 
boundary of your property up to where they connect into the public sewer). Shared 
drains where several properties' drains meet together before they join the public 
sewer are also our responsibility to maintain.” 
 
It should also be noted that there are three types of public sewer; surface water, foul 
and combined. 
 
Role of the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA): 
LLFAs lead in managing local flood risks (i.e. risks of flooding from surface water, 
ground water and ordinary (smaller) watercourses). This includes ensuring co-
operation between the Risk Management Authorities in their area. Under the Flood 
and Water Management Act 2010, LLFAs are required to: 

Salford City Council, as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA), has a responsibility 
under the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 (FWMA 2010), to undertake 
flooding investigations, specifically Section 19 states: Local authorities: investigations  

(1) On becoming aware of a flood in its area, a lead local flood authority must, 
to the extent that it considers it necessary or appropriate, investigate—  

(a) which risk management authorities have relevant flood risk 
management functions, and  
 
(b) whether each of those risk management authorities has exercised, 
or is proposing to exercise, those functions in response to the flood.  
 

(2) Where an authority carries out an investigation under subsection (1) it 
must—  

(a) publish the results of its investigation, and  
(b) notify any relevant risk management authorities.  

 
 
The agreed GMCA threshold for when a Section 19 investigation will be published is 
when an event leads to internal flooding to 5 or more properties.  It should be noted 

Page 85



 8 

that both storm events reached this threshold, and a combined Section 19 report is in 
the process of being completed.  This report will seek approval for publication from 
the appropriate panel once complete. 
 
Response To Flooding: 
During both storm events, reports of flooding were made to Salford Council’s Out of 
Hours Service.  Reports were made by both residents and councillors.  When the Out 
of Hours service is made aware of flooding issues, believed to be affecting the public 
highway the incident is reported to the Highways Services Gully Crew.  The Gully 
Crew will attend sites, investigate, and where required, cleanse the highway drainage 
system.  During both storm events the Gully Team provided exceptional service, 
attending all sites reported and attending incidents long into the night.   
  
The following day incidents were passed on the LLFA for investigations to begin.  For 
the most part, these investigations took the form of sites visits, speaking to affected 
residents and business owners to ensure that the cause of the flooding can be 
determined.  In some cases, these investigations were undertaken by phone or video 
call. 
 
During the initial process of investigating the flooding it was necessary to prioritise 
incidents of internal flooding.  During this phase of the investigation, as it became 
apparent that flooding may be linked to the public sewer, these incidents were 
referred to United Utilities as they are the party responsible for the maintenance of 
these assets. 
 
Where the investigations identified that Salford Council Assets were the cause of the 
flooding further investigations works were ordered.  These further works could take 
the form of additional gully cleansing or undertaking CCTV surveys of Salford Council 
Assets.   
 
It should be noted that the majority of the internal flooding incidents were as a result 
of United Utilities owned public sewers. 
 
There was a high proportion of incidents that were described as flooding to the 
highway.  For the majority of the sites attended by the gully cleansing team, it was 
noted that flooding had subsided by the time they attended site.  In these incidents 
this indicates that the system is functioning correctly, but the rainfall event exceeded 
the design storm of the collection/drainage system. 
 
In most of the cases of flooding identified above, the cause of the flooding has been 
identified and resolved.  In one case the cause of the flooding has been identified 
and Salford City Council are working with United Utilities to provide a solution.  This 
will require a significant input in terms of resources and funding by both parties.  An 
agreement is being sought to set out how we work together to provide that solution. 
 
Impact of Flooding on Resource: 
Salford City Council has the following members of staff undertaking works relating to 
flood risk and drainage: 
 

 Flood Risk and Drainage Manager undertaking the role of LLFA 

Page 86



 9 

 Engineer assisting Flood Risk and Drainage Manager (in post since October 
2022) 

 Assistant Engineer managing the Drainage & Culvert Improvement Plans 

 Highways Services Gully Crew undertaking planned and reactive maintenance 
(Operatives and 1No Gully Wagon) 

 
Initially, flooding impacts the Gully Crew most directly.  The Gully Crew has to enter a 
phase if tactical behaviour and react to flooding events as they happen.  This has an 
impact on the planned maintenance strategy as there is only a single gully wagon.  
The long-term impact is that the planned cleansing of highway gullies is delayed.  In 
significant flooding incidents it will be necessary to bring in 3rd party Contractors with 
more specialist plant that Salford City Council do not own.  This type of work can be 
costly. 
 
The next most impacted role is that of LLFA.  Typically, in Greater Manchester the 
Lead Local Flood Authority is a Team of 2-3 Engineers. In Salford, until October 
2022, we have a single Engineer undertaking this role.  This is a significant role 
which includes the following duties: 
 

 prepare and maintain a strategy for local flood risk management in their areas 
 carry out works to manage local flood risks in their areas 
 maintain a register of assets – these are physical features that have a 

significant effect on flooding in their area.  
 investigate significant local flooding incidents and publish the results of such 

investigations.  (Section 19 reports) 
 have powers under the Land Drainage Act 1991 to regulate ordinary 

watercourses (outside of internal drainage districts) to maintain a proper flow 
by: 

o issuing consents for altering, removing or replacing certain structures or 
features on ordinary watercourses; and 

o  enforcing obligations to maintain flow in a watercourse and repair 
watercourses, bridges and other structures in a watercourse 

 undertake a statutory consultee role providing technical advice on surface 
water drainage to local planning authorities major developments (10 dwellings 
or more)  

 co-operate with other Risk Management Authorities 
 play a lead role in emergency planning and recovery after a flood event. Local 

authorities are ‘category one responders' under the Civil Contingencies Act 
and must have plans to respond to emergencies, and control or reduce the 
impact of an emergency.  

In addition to this role the LLFA is the only resource who can advise on the wider 
implications of flooding and drainage design.  This role has a significant impact on 
planning and development throughout Salford. 

When a significant flooding incident takes place, this puts significant pressure on a 
role which is currently under resourced.  This can delay responses to the Planning 
Autority and delay the planning process.  

Page 87



 10 

 
Recently, we have recruited a skilled engineer who is assisting undertaking some of 
the roles of the LLFA.  This additional duty has enabled the production of the section 
19 report to be progressed. 
 
Section 19 Report Progress: 
The report has been drafted and is undergoing internal scrutiny for checking prior to 
forwarding in draft format to United Utilities.  United Utilities will review this report and 
provide comments.  This may lead to some amendments and again another round of 
internal checking.  Once this is complete a copy will be issued to the Environment 
Agency as a matter of courtesy and subject to their comments, approval will be 
requested of the relevant Salford City Council Panel for publication on our website. 
 
 

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  
Salford Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 
N/a 

 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  
High – the risk most likely to be realised as an effect of climate change in 
Salford is flooding.  Extensive flooding was experienced in 2015 and had a 
significant impact which is still felt by communities at risk today.  The 
construction of the second flood basin provides a greater standard of 
protection against fluvial flooding specifically for Lower Broughton.  Surface 
Water flood risk, while not as likely to occur to as great several properties at 
once, is more likely to impact residential and commercial properties 
throughout Salford. 
 
 

 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:  
No comments were sought at this stage. 

 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: 
There are no financial implications associated with this report at this stage but 

as solutions are developed financial implications are likely. 

Page 88



 11 

 

 
 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: 
There are no Procurement implications associated with this report at this stage. 

 

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: 
There are no HR implications associated with this report. 

 

 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: 
We are seeing that more intense storms are becoming more frequent and the 
impacts of these events, as demonstrated in September 2021, are significant.  
It is expected that the impacts of climate change will be significant in the 
future.  In 2021 Greater Manchester received 15% over the annual average 
rainfall.  UK Climate Change Projections undertaken in 2018 projects that this 
figure could rise to 40%.  Please note that this figure is revised periodically 
and is likely to increase further. 
 
It is essential that consideration is given to increase future funding, to not only 
maintain the existing standard of protection provided by the highway drainage 
system but to invest to provide the required standard of protection to mitigate 
the effects of climate change. 
 
Investment in green infrastructure within the highway network is an essential 
part of managing surface water and mitigating the effects of climate change.  
While increasing capital funding to implement schemes featuring green 
infrastructure is advisable, the provision of increased maintenance budgets to 
maximise the lifespan of existing assets is also advisable.

 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: 
N/a 

 

CONTACT OFFICER:  Matt Ryan TEL NO: 0161 603 4050 
 

 
 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: 
All wards 

Page 89



 12 

  

Page 90



 13 

Appendix A – Flooding Photos 
 

 
 
Figure 4 Surface water flooding to Peel Green Road 

Page 91



 14 

 
Figure 5 Waist high flooding affecting cars in Peel Green Road 

Page 92



 15 

 
Figure 6 - flooding to the cellar of the Royal Oak Pub 

 

Page 93



 16 

 
Figure 7 - flood water emerging from public sewer on Sterndale Road 

Page 94



 17 

 
Figure 8- Flooding to Linkfield Drive 

Page 95



 18 

 
Figure 9- internal flooding to a property on Linkfield Drive 

Page 96



 19 

 
Figure 10- flooding to a Boothstown Community centre and Library 

 

Page 97



 20 

 
Figure 11- flooding to a Boothstown Community centre and Library 

 

Page 98



 21 

 
Figure 12- Water emerging on Mather Fold Road and flowing towards Cherrywood Close 

 
 

Page 99



 22 

 
Figure 13- flooding to Cherrywood Close 

 

Page 100



 23 

 
Figure 14- flooding to Cherrywood Close 

 

Page 101



 24 

 
Figure 15 - employee attempting to relieve flood water 

 

Page 102



 25 

 
Figure 16- flooding to Liverpool Road, Irlam 

 

Page 103



 26 

 
Figure 17- flooding to Liverpool Road, Irlam 

 

Page 104



 27 

 
Figure 18- flooding to Queensway, Cadishead 

 
 

Page 105



 

 
GROWTH & PROSPERITY SCRUTINY PANEL - WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 AS AT 12/12/22 

 

Date  
 

Agenda Item(s) Presenting Officer(s) 

23/01/23, 
6.00pm 

 Bus Franchising 
 Homelessness Strategy Update 
 

TfGM 
Julie Craik / Marie Donaghey 
 

27/02/22,  
6.00pm 

 Housing Strategy Update 
 Derive Update 
 Budget Monitoring - Q3 
 

Andrew Leigh 
Andrew Leigh 
David Mills 

ABEYANCE LIST 
 

 Highways Investment Programme. 
 Port Salford. 
 Swinton and Eccles Town Centre Visioning and Progress Update. 
 Registered Housing Providers – update on achievements/challenges. 
 Highway Works (including how the council communicates with the public and how it works with the 

companies delivering works in the city). 
 Buile Hill Mansion / Park 
 Affordable Housing 
 Review of Travel Plans developed through planning applications. 
 Update on Salford University Business Park. 
 

 

Portfolio of the Board Membership (12 Members) 
 

1. Physical regeneration 
2. Business investment and programmes 
3. Planning, housing and transport strategy and delivery 
4. Pendleton PFI 
5. Urban Vision (Transition) 
6. Housing 
7. Environmental sustainability 
8. Climate change 
9. To discharge the Council’s scrutiny functions as a lead local flood authority 
10. To scrutinise the Council’s business plan and budget in this functional area 
 
 
 

Councillor Brabiner 
Councillor Brooks 
Councillor Dickman 
Councillor R. Garrido 
Councillor Lewis 
Councillor Linden 
Councillor Nelson 
Councillor Pevitt (VC) 
Councillor Saeed 
Councillor Shama 
Councillor Sharpe (C) 
Councillor Ward 

 

P
age 106

A
genda Item

 6


	Agenda
	 Guidance for members of the public on face to face meetings in the Salford Suite.
	3 Zero Carbon and Climate Change Programme Overview - James Shuttleworth / Hayley Nixon.
	4 Update on Flooding - Matt Ryan.
	Report - Update on September Flooding GPSP

	6 Work programme.

